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          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Good morning.

          3  Welcome to this joint hearing of the Consumer

          4  Affairs Committee and the Subcommittee on Zoning and

          5  Franchises. I'm Phillip Reed, Chair of Consumer

          6  Affairs, the Consumer Affairs Committee, and I'm

          7  happy to be working today with my colleague Tony

          8  Avella, to my left, the Chair of Zoning and

          9  Franchise Subcommittee.

         10                 We are here this morning to review

         11  Introduction, Intro. 294, a local law that would

         12  revise the licensing process for sidewalk cafes.

         13                 We have two different committees

         14  meeting today and we are going to introduce them

         15  when they all arrive and sit down. I understand

         16  they're all floating around in the building.

         17                 Sidewalk cafes are one of the most

         18  enjoyable amenities of our City. We all know how

         19  pleasant it is to spend a long afternoon over a meal

         20  at one of the many sidewalk cafes around New York.

         21  Unfortunately the licensing process for these cafes

         22  is not quite as pleasant.

         23                 The current law mandates a complex

         24  and confusing approval system involving the City

         25  Council, local community boards, and six City
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          2  agencies. This licensing process is also very time

          3  consuming. Though the law requires that the City act

          4  on sidewalk cafe applications within 226 days,

          5  applications have lingered for as long as 465 days.

          6                 I know that when Commissioner Dykstra

          7  first looked at this issue last spring, she was

          8  funded with a backlog of 275 pending applications.

          9  Commissioner Dykstra is somewhere behind that

         10  screen, right? Okay.

         11                 Obviously the current system takes

         12  too long and creates too much of a burden for

         13  sidewalk cafe owners in the City. Intro. 294 is

         14  designed to address a number of these problems.

         15  First, it centralizes authority under the Department

         16  of Consumer Affairs. Next, it reduces the time of

         17  the approval process to 110 days. Finally, it

         18  provides for enhanced enforcement.

         19                 In addition to civil fines, it can

         20  reach thousands of dollars.  The proposed

         21  legislation allows the Commissioner to padlock cafes

         22  and restaurants that repeatedly violate the law.

         23                 At the same time, the legislation

         24  still allows for pull public hearings by local

         25  community boards and for approval by the City
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          2  Council.

          3                 I know Commissioner Dykstra and her

          4  staff will be speaking in greater detail about the

          5  bill, and we are eager to hear from them.

          6                 In addition, we'll be receiving

          7  testimony from the restaurant industry and sidewalk

          8  cafe owners.

          9                 I'd like to thank all of the

         10  interested parties for joining us today, and I look

         11  forward to exploring this issue together with my

         12  colleagues and the Subcommittee ultimately to

         13  improving the licensing process.

         14                 Thank you. And I would like to turn

         15  the microphone over to my colleague, Council Member

         16  Avella.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you, Mr.

         18  Chairman.

         19                 I am pleased to be here today to

         20  consider together with my colleagues from the

         21  Committee on Consumer Affairs and my good friend

         22  Phil Reed, a bill which will make more rational and

         23  effective the City's approach to the establishment

         24  of sidewalk cafes.

         25                 Over the past year, as Chair of the
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          2  Subcommittee on Zoning and Franchises, I have

          3  reviewed with my colleagues on the Committee over

          4  100 applications for sidewalk cafes. As Land Use

          5  issues go, these cafes may seem like a minor matter,

          6  but to the communities in which the cafes are

          7  located, the cafes have become a major quality of

          8  life issue.

          9                 To the restaurant owners, the lack of

         10  certainty as to their continued ability to operate

         11  legally their cafes, combined with the lengthy and

         12  confusing review process, have led to an increasing

         13  number of cafes operating without benefit or permit

         14  or license.

         15                 The process has become so flawed that

         16  some cafes received approval for their cafe after

         17  the period for approval has expired.

         18                 This bill will consolidate the entire

         19  licensing, permitting and enforcement responsibility

         20  in one agency, the Department of Consumer Affairs,

         21  and will streamline the process of attaining

         22  necessary reviews.

         23                 The community boards and the Council

         24  will remain an integral albeit enhanced part of the

         25  review process. Best of all, this bill will give
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          2  Consumer Affairs significant tools in their

          3  enforcement efforts against illegal sidewalk cafes,

          4  while making it easier for cafes to become properly

          5  licensed.

          6                 With that, I turn it back to my

          7  co-chair on this, Council Member Reed.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you,

          9  Council Member Avella. I think our first witness is

         10  Commissioner Dykstra.

         11                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Thank you, both

         12  Chairs of this joint committee. And as I said, I'm

         13  joined today by Merrill Frank from our Licensing

         14  Division, and Andy Eiler, Legislative Director.

         15  They've been doing the heavy lifting.

         16                 Let me just start by saying I'm

         17  thrilled to be here, and as I look around the room,

         18  one of the most satisfying things is how many people

         19  in this room from the Council members, Council

         20  staff, community boards and restaurants have helped

         21  in the designing of these proposals.

         22                 So, as a believer in partnership,

         23  it's a terrific illustration today.

         24                 As Phil Reed said, when I arrived at

         25  the Department of Consumer Affairs and began to
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          2  review operations, we found 275 applications to

          3  operate unenclosed sidewalk cafes stuck in the

          4  bureaucratic pipeline, some for more than a year.

          5  With the help of our fellow agencies, we processed

          6  those applications and also began to focus on how we

          7  might change an unwieldy and unfair system.

          8                 Again, as Council Member Reed said,

          9  the current statutory process requires 226 days, in

         10  practice it often takes 465 days, a year and a half,

         11  to open a sidewalk cafe.

         12                 Six executive agencies are involved

         13  in the process - DCA, DOT, DCP, DEP, Landmarks, and

         14  the Mayor's Office of Contracts, community boards

         15  and the City Council, too.

         16                 Upon receipt of an application, DCA

         17  made 13 copies and circulated them all to the

         18  involved parties, nobody thinks this process works,

         19  not the restaurateur trying to open a cafe, not the

         20  community board, not the agencies conducting the

         21  review.

         22                 DCA worked with the Department of

         23  City Planning and the Department of Transportation

         24  and I publicly thank them for all of their support

         25  and guidance on this, to identify the key features
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          2  that each agency reviews, including business

          3  matters, sidewalk obstruction, zoning issues, and

          4  aesthetic concerns.

          5                 The review does not require

          6  specialized knowledge, it requires clear guidelines

          7  and enforcement and that's what gave us I think the

          8  certainty that we could move on.

          9                 DCA has met with community board

         10  representatives from the areas with the largest

         11  number of sidewalks to learn what these local

         12  representatives thought work and didn't work in the

         13  system. In fact, we've met with some of them more

         14  than three or four times.

         15                 DCA also met on several occasions

         16  with the New York State Restaurant Association,

         17  restaurant operators, architects and lawyers who in

         18  turn made suggestions.

         19                 In addition to the frustration with

         20  the process, there was shared frustration with

         21  meaningless enforcement. DCA inspectors go out, we

         22  write violations for license violations and the

         23  restaurant pays as a cost of doing business. DCA

         24  inspectors go out and confiscate tables and chairs

         25  that unlicensed establishments and the operator
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          2  replaces them with new ones the next day, and DCA

          3  pays storage on the old ones.

          4                 In June we got a bill for $10,000,

          5  for the storage cost of plastic sidewalk cafe

          6  chairs, most of which had been replaced within 24

          7  hours.

          8                 A meaningless cat and mouse game

          9  that's unfair to communities, unfair to honest

         10  operators, unfair to taxpayers and frustrating to

         11  DCA's inspectors.

         12                 The legislation before you reflects

         13  the wisdom gleaned from all of those discussions,

         14  the process in front of you is the old process.

         15  Color code -- oh, sorry, I missed the illustrations.

         16  The first one, obviously the old process, the new

         17  one, the legislation before you reflects the wisdom

         18  gleaned from all of those discussion.

         19                 The process has been shortened to 110

         20  days without sacrificing public input and adding

         21  stiff penalties into the law so that violators are

         22  not cavalier and honest businesses have a level

         23  playing field.

         24                 Highlights of this proposal include:

         25                 - a public/private application
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          2  process. One agency, DCA, will be responsible for

          3  the entire license approval process so that

          4  communities and operators know exactly whom to hold

          5  accountable.

          6                 A new public/private review process

          7  will require the certification of a complete and

          8  accurate application by licensed architects and

          9  engineers working on behalf of the restaurateurs,

         10  following clear guidelines.

         11                 DCA will then conduct qualifying

         12  inspections on 20 percent of all these applications

         13  on a surprise basis, establishing a 100-day review

         14  process.

         15                 This streamlining eliminates the

         16  multi-agency review, but still preserves the

         17  community and City Council review processes.

         18                 Community boards will have 45 days to

         19  review the application and return their

         20  recommendations, the same time line they have for

         21  reviewing cabarets, which are in fact far more

         22  complicated.

         23                 And for the first time, any agreement

         24  reached between the operator and the community board

         25  will officially change the petition on file, thus
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          2  directing enforcement accordingly.

          3                 DCA, not DOT, would then hold a

          4  public hearing on the granting of irrevocable

          5  consent and make our final recommendation to the

          6  Council.

          7                 The City Council can either call up

          8  the application or not, following your current

          9  practices and timeline.

         10                 Enforcement. The entire fee schedule

         11  has been adjusted for inflation, but in addition the

         12  law will give DCA the authority to padlock the

         13  restaurants of violators.

         14                 Operators of unlicensed sidewalk

         15  cafes who violate the law two times will no longer

         16  lose their tables and chairs but rather could have

         17  the restaurant padlock for up to 30 days after the

         18  second violation.

         19                 Operators of licensed sidewalk cafes

         20  who violate those regulations three times could have

         21  their restaurants padlocked for up to 30 days after

         22  the appropriate hearings at DCA's administrative

         23  tribunal.

         24                 We are hopeful and competent that

         25  these stiffer penalties will increase compliance
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          2  with the law, and reduce the headaches the

          3  communities feel.

          4                 We also looked at the level of the

          5  consent fees charged for using the public sidewalks

          6  as sidewalk cafes.

          7                 There are currently three zones with

          8  the cost per square foot in most of Manhattan, only

          9  $10.94 per square foot. What a bargain.

         10                 To develop a more realistic proposal,

         11  my staff investigated the cost of commercial space

         12  in Manhattan. We found that the average is

         13  approximately $90 per square foot. We took this

         14  average and divided it by half, since sidewalk cafes

         15  operated only half time of the year. We then divide

         16  it by two-thirds, since they operate two-thirds of

         17  the day.

         18                 In addition, we considered the

         19  varying sizes of cafes and we came up with a new

         20  rate, which I believe is fair to both operators and

         21  taxpayers.

         22                 The proposed new rate for unenclosed

         23  cafes would include a flat fee for the first 20

         24  square feet.

         25                 This allows small establishments,
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          2  those with only a few tables, to pay the base rate.

          3  Larger cafes would pay the base rate an additional

          4  $30 per square foot for all of Manhattan below 96th

          5  Street, and $22.50 per square foot for zone 2, which

          6  would be the rest of the City.

          7                 We have in addition drafted rules to

          8  implement the legislation. The rules include many

          9  suggestions conveyed to us by Council members, City

         10  agencies, architects, community boards and

         11  restaurant operators.

         12                 For example, the rules make clear

         13  that the DCA will enforce the federal Americans with

         14  Disabilities requirements for public spaces, and

         15  ensure that restaurants provide notice to their

         16  neighbors about the hearing to operate a sidewalk

         17  cafe.

         18                 Finally, I'd like to mention there is

         19  a timeliness issue to the passage of the bill before

         20  you. If the Council passes and the Mayor signs this

         21  bill by mid-December, then we will be able to

         22  complete the rule-making so that this new system

         23  will be ready for the 2003 sidewalk cafe season. We

         24  would appreciate your willingness to help us achieve

         25  this.
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          2                 Thank you for the opportunity to

          3  testify. If you have any questions, I'd be happy to

          4  answer them. And please note that in the back of

          5  your copies there are in fact charts that lay out

          6  some of the fee structures and like.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very

          8  much, Commissioner.

          9                 I want to take an opportunity to

         10  introduce our colleagues here. Council Member

         11  Barron, Charles Barron, from Brooklyn; Council

         12  Member Quinn from Manhattan; Council Member Eric

         13  Gioia from Queens; and my colleague Oliver Koppell

         14  from the Bronx are here, I'm sure we're going to see

         15  other people.

         16                 I wouldn't dare chastise your staff,

         17  so I'd ask everybody to put your phones on vibrate

         18  or turn them in now. Yes, thank you, Council member.

         19  Right. This is definitely a performance face.

         20                 Commissioner, there is a lot for us

         21  to sort of look at, and in no particular order. As

         22  you know, we're here with both Subcommittee, Land

         23  Use and the Consumer Affairs. But I had a couple of

         24  questions just about your testimony that I didn't

         25  quite understand, when you said that the new

                                                            16

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2  public/private review process. In reality this is

          3  self-certification; is that what this is?

          4                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: I was using

          5  that term initially in all of our discussions and I

          6  had my hand slapped, because as I understand it,

          7  self-certification does not necessarily bring with

          8  it a public review process. So, we changed it to

          9  call it a public/private review process.

         10                 It does allow the operators -- we're

         11  going to develop, and in the process of doing so, a

         12  checklist that will once and for all consolidate the

         13  various inputs from DCP and DOT, and so that you'll

         14  have a clear checklist of what you need to know.

         15                 Do you have outstanding violations

         16  from landmarks? If yes, then don't bring us your

         17  application.

         18                 Have you, in fact, met the clear

         19  guidance rules?

         20                 We are developing for the first time

         21  design guidelines, so everybody will have in their

         22  hands the same aesthetic guideline.

         23                 Are you putting tables under a fire

         24  escape? Your answer has got to be no I'm not.

         25                 So, that will be a key part of the
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          2  application, and within five days of receiving that,

          3  we will do one of two things: We will either choose

          4  that application to be inspected by our inspectors,

          5  or we will then put it on to the community board. We

          6  have five days to forward it to the community board.

          7                 But in either case we are depending

          8  on the restaurants to be honest about their

          9  applications. If they're not, it's their first

         10  violation.

         11                 I should also mention that we have,

         12  because of this, because of shifting some of the

         13  inspection up front, we have talked to OMB, and they

         14  are willing to give us three new inspectors to both

         15  do the up-front work and the back-end work.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: That was going to

         17  be part of my question, in terms of this

         18  self-certification. It sounds to me like it's

         19  walking like a duck, but I guess maybe we'll just

         20  wait and see if it talks, too.

         21                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Can I also

         22  mention one other thing? For the first time, we're

         23  also going to require the submission of photographs

         24  with the blueprints. Photographs that are dated.

         25  And, again, there will be clear guidelines for what
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          2  those photographs have to capture. So, if there's

          3  grading, if all of the sidewalks obstructions we

          4  will see, which up til now we hadn't been able to

          5  see in our review.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay, I will hold

          7  my other questions.

          8                 Council Member Avella.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Actually I don't

         10  have any questions. I just like to recognize that

         11  we've also been joined by Council Member Simcha

         12  Felder from Brooklyn.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Council Member

         14  Quinn.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

         16                 First, I want to thank you, you and

         17  your staff came and briefed myself and my staff, and

         18  I very much appreciate that, that you took that time

         19  to do that.

         20                 I have a couple of different

         21  questions and may end up coming up with some others

         22  based on other stuff that gets raised. One of the

         23  concerns that I've heard from the community boards

         24  in my area is around how much time they get when you

         25  factor in that they don't -- particularly when you
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          2  factor in that they don't meet in August, and how

          3  that plays out. So, if you could respond to that.

          4                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: We, too, heard

          5  that from a few boards. There were many boards who

          6  were okay with the 45 days, and let me tell you why

          7  we did it.

          8                 Merrill did a pretty extensive review

          9  of the schedules, and other than in August, 45 days

         10  in fact does allow community boards, no matter when

         11  they get the application, to send it to Committee

         12  and then to a full board within 45 days.

         13                 We also noted, as I said in my

         14  testimony, that they have 45 days to review

         15  cabarets, which is a far more complicated

         16  application process. So, we thought the bar had

         17  already been set there, and we also, from experience

         18  know that very few restaurant operators submit

         19  applications after the start of the season. So, the

         20  idea that any application would in fact happen in

         21  August is few and far between, and we didn't want to

         22  write regulations based on exceptions, to tell you

         23  the truth.

         24                 And then also, we want to get the

         25  process down, we want to speed it up, and so we
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          2  thought everybody could take a little piece of that

          3  responsibility.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Does the

          5  cabaret, and I should know this, but does the

          6  cabaret time limit have an August recognition or

          7  exemption?

          8                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: I don't believe

          9  it does.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I mean, I

         11  appreciate the desire to get it moving more quickly,

         12  it just seems a little odd, and I understand the

         13  desire to get it more quickly and not to write laws

         14  with exemptions, trust me, it just seems odd,

         15  though, because the reality is they don't meet in

         16  August. It's not like half of them meet in August

         17  and half of them don't, it just seems odd that

         18  that's a given, and so that it seems like we should

         19  also write laws that recognize the reality of the

         20  entities who are part of the laws, and that is a

         21  reality.

         22                 So, I don't know why -- particularly

         23  this few and far between, we couldn't just reflect

         24  that in the law?

         25                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Again, that's
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          2  your call, and we would have no objection. Our

          3  common sense says that if you give people 60 days

          4  they'll take the full 60 days, and we were just

          5  eager to get it down as quickly as possible.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Couldn't you do

          7  it 45 days, except when the 45 days includes August

          8  and then give them 60. What I'm proposing is you

          9  could give them 60 when it happens to fall in

         10  August?

         11                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: That's for the

         12  lawyers. I have no objection to that. It also would

         13  probably speed it up on the restaurant side.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Right. I think we

         15  could certainly take a look at that, putting a

         16  caveat in there to recognize that just exclusively

         17  for the community board portion of it.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Correct.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Two other

         21  questions. One of the issues that, you know, dog

         22  runs and sidewalk cafes are two things that I

         23  probably never thought when I ran for office I would

         24  spend as much time on as I do. A lot of time on both

         25  of them. My predecessor used to say he dreamed of

                                                            22

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2  changing the world and spent most of his time on dog

          3  runs.

          4                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: For some of us

          5  that is changing the world.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Concentration

          7  isn't reflected in this proposal, or the recognition

          8  of concentration. That certainly is an issue that

          9  gets raised a great deal by the community boards in

         10  my district.

         11                 One of my -- well, I have two

         12  concerns. One, I think that's a very fair issue to

         13  be raised by residents, is concentration, leaving it

         14  the way the proposal is which we discussed when we

         15  met, seems to be problematic from the community

         16  perspective, but also my opinion, problematic from

         17  the business's perspective, because then it's simply

         18  whoever gets there quickest, do you know what I

         19  mean? Who gets it so the third person who puts in

         20  their application who may be in fact a more

         21  appropriate site for a sidewalk cafe and less likely

         22  to get it, on some level because the neighborhood

         23  has already had two added on to the six it already

         24  had, and I don't know that that's necessarily fair,

         25  or the best way to do it. So, I don't know if since

                                                            23

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2  we've met you've had any further thoughts relating

          3  to concentration issues, or saturation I guess is

          4  the best way to look at it.

          5                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Right. I think

          6  all of us were appreciative of that concern and we

          7  are certainly aware of that concern.

          8                 But I'll tell you, and I might be

          9  faulted for thinking this way but I really think

         10  that's a political call, and I think that DCA should

         11  in fact administer rules and regulations that have

         12  to do with sidewalk obstructions, public safety

         13  issues, aesthetic concerns, and then we should in

         14  fact let the public review process work the way it's

         15  designed to work, so that a saturation, which can be

         16  a subjective perspective is something the community

         17  feels very strongly about. They'll have in fact

         18  three shots at making that known, both at their own

         19  hearing, at DCA's public hearing, and then a course

         20  at the City Council. But we thought it was

         21  appropriate to leave the decisions with the City

         22  Council and not allow DCA to make that call at the

         23  beginning of the process.

         24                 Also, the whole question of

         25  congestion is often exacerbated by those that are
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          2  unlicensed, at least that's what we've discovered in

          3  some neighborhoods, and it will be interesting to

          4  see if they get licensed, because it's possible that

          5  they will find sidewalk obstructions that will block

          6  their application.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: In your

          8  proposal this would still end up before Chairperson

          9  Avella's Committee, correct?

         10                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Pardon?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: At the end of

         12  the process, if this was to become law, it still

         13  ends up in the Zoning Subcommittee, correct?

         14                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: So, one of the

         16  things in Land Use is, it's pretty specific what

         17  you're supposed to consider and what you're not

         18  supposed to consider, and I think we all in Land Use

         19  struggle to try to stay within what we're supposed

         20  to consider, even though sometimes neighborhoods

         21  will come in with very compelling facts, not just on

         22  sidewalk cafes but they're outside of what is

         23  actually the Land Use issue. Which is one of my

         24  concerns around the saturation issue not kind of

         25  being more specific, so does the legislative intent,
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          2  or any of the documents that go along this law make

          3  reference to what you just said that it is

          4  appropriate, or minimally not inappropriate for the

          5  Land Use Committee to consideration saturation as a

          6  factor in its determinations or deliberations.

          7  Because I feel like sometimes in Land Use if it

          8  doesn't say you can consider it then we feel you

          9  can't.

         10                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Andy is saying

         11  that because it's a consent, the City can take that

         12  into account because it's irrevocable consent.

         13                 We don't have any language but I

         14  don't know why we couldn't look and put that

         15  language in. I have no objection to that.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Okay.

         17                 And then just lastly, very quickly,

         18  and I know you are not the appropriate person for

         19  this and we discussed this in my meeting but I just

         20  want to put it on the record, and you were very

         21  gracious in saying you would reach out to the

         22  Commissioner of the Department of Buildings about

         23  this, but my district, and I'm sure many others,

         24  there are some, I mean maybe numerous, I don't know,

         25  backyard eating, drinking and soon to be 25 percent,
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          2  as long as it's three feet away from the non-smoking

          3  area, smoking facilities, backyard and rooftop

          4  areas, that are a lot like sidewalk cafes but just

          5  in other spots, but they're not part of this

          6  procedure in neighborhoods when the few, very, very

          7  few who are problematic, frequently neighbors, are

          8  left without recourse. So, it's something, this

          9  issue of eating outside is on the table, I just hope

         10  that we can continue to look at it with the Council,

         11  with DCA and with the Department of Buildings, who I

         12  think is the actually more relevant --

         13                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: They are more

         14  relevant, and we haven't forgotten, and, in fact,

         15  Merrill and I have an appointment with the Buildings

         16  Department --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Oh, terrific.

         18                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: And that's on

         19  our agenda.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you very

         21  much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I think, Council

         23  Member Quinn, in reference to your first question, I

         24  think that, yes, the subcommittee and Land Use have

         25  the final say so in terms of these applications. But
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          2  I also think because this process is now streamlined

          3  and directly in responsibility of one agency, the

          4  Council, it seems to me, would have, the oversight

          5  would be more direct and clearcut. So, if there are

          6  administrative problems, or the things that you're

          7  talking about, then the Consumer Affairs Committee

          8  could certainly try to address that.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: That's a very

         10  good point, a very good point. Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: I would also add

         12  that we're not going to be taking a vote on this

         13  today, so there will be a further opportunity, in an

         14  expedited fashion, to go into some of these

         15  concerns.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Council Member

         17  Koppell.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you.

         19  Good morning.

         20                 I welcome the improvements to the

         21  process indicated here. I'm not a great expert on

         22  this, but I am somewhat concerned about some of the

         23  dollar issues in this, and I'd like to call your

         24  attention and the attention of the Committee to the

         25  chart that I think illustrates as the best.  Having
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          2  just looked at them, maybe it isn't the one, but let

          3  me see which number it is. It's one -- next time

          4  maybe you should put a number on these -- two, three

          5  -- fourth. The fourth chart in the packet. And

          6  that's the chart that says current and future fees,

          7  and I recognize that we may be undercharging people,

          8  but we're talking about business people and we're

          9  talking about sending them a new bill for something

         10  that they've already been paying for in many cases,

         11  right?

         12                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Yes. That's

         13  correct.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: It's not just

         15  for new ones, it's for existing ones.

         16                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: That's correct.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And is this a

         18  fee, annual fee? Are these fees annual?

         19                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay. So, in

         21  some instances, I might note in zone one, a small

         22  cafe that was paying $218, they're now going to be

         23  asked to pay ten times as much, that's a pretty

         24  steep hit on a business which, and I want to say

         25  this, I like sidewalk cafes, obviously they have to
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          2  be in appropriate places, but I think there's

          3  something we want to encourage, not discourage, and

          4  one might look at these fees and say what's the City

          5  doing here, trying to put everybody sort of out of

          6  the business?

          7                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: I think there

          8  are a couple of things that I'd like to say about

          9  this. One is that Chuck Hunt was really helpful to

         10  us from the New York State Restaurant Association,

         11  as were some of his colleagues, and he kept saying

         12  to us, if you can speed up the process, we're

         13  willing to pay more. And to put it in some

         14  historical context, one of the things we took a look

         15  at is in 1991, when there was a base fee for all

         16  sidewalk cafes, and that was changed, do you know

         17  that some cafes in New York were paying in excess of

         18  $590,000 to run a sidewalk cafe. When those rules

         19  were changed back in 1991, we tried to find out what

         20  the theory was behind the new charges, which were so

         21  dramatically lower, and we were unable to in fact

         22  uncover any thinking. So, what we tried to do was

         23  recognizing that they're far too cheap, far too

         24  cheap, it's not fair to taxpayers to sell their

         25  sidewalks so cheap, but also realizing that $590,000

                                                            30

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2  was cockamamie, we tried to come up with a system

          3  that was both rational and fair that wouldn't, in

          4  fact, overburden the operators. And I would just

          5  like to point out that these are so incredibly

          6  valuable that we're seeing an increase in sidewalk

          7  cafes, which must mean that they are worth it to the

          8  small businesses that apply.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Right now

         10  they're very cheap, and you're going to make them at

         11  least more costly.

         12                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: We're going to

         13  make them more costly, but I think fair.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, I would

         15  ask, Mr. Chairman, that we hear from the industry

         16  about that, because it certainly concerns me to see

         17  a ten-fold increase.

         18                 I also might point out, and this may

         19  be because of the irrationality of the system

         20  before, that while someone in zone one gets a

         21  ten-fold increase under, for a small cafe, someone

         22  in zone 2 who has a medium-sized cafe doesn't get

         23  much of an increase at all. Now, again, that may be

         24  because the current system is anomalous, but if I

         25  was a small cafe in zone 1, I'd be pretty annoyed
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          2  that I was paying ten times as much whereas my

          3  friend in zone 2 was paying virtually the same. I

          4  think something, I mean maybe that makes sense but

          5  --

          6                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: We started with

          7  the same base back in 1991, so that's how we came up

          8  with the base figure, it was $1,600 back in 1991.

          9  So, we adjusted that for inflation, and that's how

         10  we came up with the base for 20 square feet, I'll be

         11  interested in hearing Chuck Hunt. I think that this

         12  is fair. I think that to use the sidewalks is a

         13  privilege, not a right, and I think people should

         14  pay accordingly.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But why

         16  should a medium-sized cafe that paid $1,230 until

         17  now be charged only $1,592, whereas a small one that

         18  paid $218 is going to be charged 2,900? I mean, it

         19  just doesn't make any sense.

         20                 MS. FRANK: Well, to address that, we

         21  wanted a system that was actually fair across the

         22  board. We didn't want to raise one person's rates

         23  because their rates were in the middle and raise

         24  another person's rates more because theirs weren't.

         25  We wanted a system that was equal and fair across
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          2  the board.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, you'll

          4  hear my concern, and I will hear from the industry.

          5  And I'd like to now turn to the fines, because,

          6  again, we want to have fines, I agree with you, that

          7  deter people, but I see that there's a fine of at

          8  least 200 and not more than $1,000 for the first

          9  violation, and then it says 200 and not more than

         10  $1,000 for each additional violation occurring on

         11  the same day. How can you have more than one

         12  violation on the same day? I don't understand that.

         13  What are we talking about?

         14                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Oh, we could

         15  conceivably go and see a sidewalk cafe that has

         16  encroached on the sidewalk, has taken up more space

         17  than they were allowed. They might, in fact, removed

         18  their barrier that they had on their plan. They

         19  could be doing all sorts of things, which is in fact

         20  what we see to push the sidewalk farther and farther

         21  out to the pavement. So, we can in fact write more

         22  than one violation in a day. You will notice,

         23  though, that in terms of the ticking clock for

         24  shutting the restaurant, we will not do that. We

         25  will count violations on separate days so that we
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          2  like to think that writing violations is an

          3  educational exercise in addition to one of producing

          4  revenues.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Mr. Chairman,

          6  I just will tell you that I will not vote for

          7  legislation that has this kind of punitive penalty

          8  for first violations. I simply will not. I mean,

          9  several constituents came to me and pointed out that

         10  for watering on the wrong day there was an initial

         11  fine of $250, no mitigation. And as far as I'm

         12  concerned, that's ridiculous. Now, I don't think we

         13  approved that, I think the Mayor went and did it. I

         14  will not vote to approve something that has this

         15  kind of punitive fine in it. If it's a repeated

         16  violation, that's fine. These are daily fines.

         17                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: This is the

         18  same as it is currently.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, I'm not

         20  going to support it.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Council member,

         22  your concern is noted, and as Chairman Avella

         23  pointed out, we're not voting on it today, so that's

         24  something that we can review.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 Council Member Gioia.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you, Mr.

          4  Chair. Mr. Chairs.

          5                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Mr. Chairs.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I just wanted

          7  to pick up on the pricing for the sidewalk cafes. I

          8  think I respect Mr. Hunt's judgment that there would

          9  be a fair trade off to expedite the process and pay

         10  higher fees. But your testimony isn't that there is

         11  a correlation, in other words, with these higher

         12  fees, that is why we will be able to expedite the

         13  process, they're unrelated, right?

         14                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: They're

         15  unrelated. I mean, I think the first step is the

         16  consolidation and the streamlining of the approval

         17  process. We, in fact, as you probably know by law,

         18  on the license fees we can't, the City can't make a

         19  profit off of that and OMB has a very complicated

         20  formula for that. So, no, I'm not suggesting that.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: So, we could

         22  streamline the process and keep the fees relatively

         23  low.

         24                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Yes, you could.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Good.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: We, the chairs --

          3                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Mr. Chairs.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Are looking at the

          5  issue of staffing and funding, and our concern about

          6  that; could you address that? I know you said that

          7  OMB has assigned you three more staff people --

          8                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: No, no, no,

          9  just in enforcement.

         10                 We did a pretty comprehensive

         11  projection and we have asked for three more

         12  licensing staff people, three more inspectors, three

         13  additional people in our legal division, and two

         14  additional people in our administrative tribunal.

         15  The total cost --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Specific for this

         17  process?

         18                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: For sidewalk

         19  cafes to speed it up.

         20                 We estimated that for the first year

         21  the total cost would come to approximately $700,000,

         22  although if as approved as it currently stands,

         23  based on today's number of sidewalk cafes the

         24  increased revenues would be approximately two and a

         25  half million dollars.
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          2                 Our costs would continue to go down

          3  because some of them are one-time OTPS costs. But we

          4  thought it was important not to pretend we could do

          5  this without more staff, and we feel that very

          6  strongly.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, I think that

          8  that ought to almost be a part of our process of

          9  approval, because the question is whether or not DCA

         10  is capable of meeting the deadline, and if you don't

         11  then the application is disapproved, is my

         12  understanding. If we miss various applications, it

         13  doesn't automatically get approved; am I right about

         14  the way I've read this?

         15                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Say that again.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Aren't there

         17  elements of this that if we don't, if an agency or

         18  the City Council doesn't rule on this within the

         19  time line then in fact the application is

         20  disapproved. Am I wrong?

         21                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: No, you're

         22  wrong.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED: No, that's my

         24  point, you don't get it by default, but it seemed to

         25  me when I read this, that if DCA doesn't meet the
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          2  deadline after the community board, the application

          3  fails.

          4                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: No. If DCA

          5  doesn't meet its own deadline, people should call me

          6  and scream at me, but it's nobody gets approved or

          7  disapproved because we haven't lived up to our

          8  commitment. Council gets the final say.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay.

         10                 Council Member Barron.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: This is a

         12  simple question. The prior licensing process was 226

         13  days but they said that it occurred in 400 and some

         14  odd days --

         15                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: 465 --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Sixty-five

         17  days.

         18                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Was the

         19  average.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Oh, the

         21  average. Even though the goal was 226 with all the

         22  agencies involved. This more streamlined goal of

         23  110, 140, is that really 110, 140? Do you anticipate

         24  -- what happens if it goes up further beyond, just

         25  like the other expectation?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: I think the

          3  advantage of it is you know who to blame, and it's

          4  me.

          5                 So, I think there are several answers

          6  to that, it's not just based on promises, because

          7  this new application will allow for check-offs, our

          8  customer service representatives who are responsible

          9  for doing this are going to have an easier way of

         10  actually going through the application. So, we've

         11  given ourselves only five days at the beginning of

         12  the process to move it out of DCA. We think a large

         13  part of meeting that deadline will be because of

         14  this new self-certification application process.

         15                 In addition then, the other pieces,

         16  like the community board review, are mandated and

         17  meets their schedules, and then so too with you. And

         18  what we've also done is cut, as you probably know,

         19  the revocable consent has to be approved by the

         20  Mayor's Office of Contracts. They are no longer

         21  involved in the process other than signing the

         22  revocable consent.

         23                 They used to have a 17-page

         24  application that one had to submit to MOC, and also

         25  wait for their review. We have eliminated that from
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          2  the process.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Thank you very

          4  much.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: We're not

          6  rehearsing here, we're trying to talk, but there is

          7  a sense that there is a problem, a concern about

          8  this being denied and I'd like to draw your

          9  attention to page seven of the bill itself.

         10                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Line?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Here, speak into

         12  this.

         13                 Rob Newman is Acting Counsel for the

         14  Committee today. Deborah Brown has had a family

         15  emergency.

         16                 MR. NEWMAN: Line three. "If within

         17  the time period provided the Department fails to

         18  take the actions on a petition provided for in the

         19  preceding sentence, the petition shall be deemed to

         20  have been denied."

         21                 MR. EILER: That is in there. It's a

         22  deadline for us to get it done. I mean, basically

         23  that's in the current law that we can't, you can't

         24  have an approval by default. But because it has to

         25  be an affirmative action, that it meets the
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          2  requirements. So, if the unusual situation should

          3  happen that it doesn't happen in time, we can't say

          4  that it's approved because the agency failed to act.

          5                 But, you know, we're going to finish

          6  within the time that we have, it's a deadline for us

          7  to act, and we will get it done.

          8                 Of course, they could resubmit. The

          9  applicant can renew the application if that happens,

         10  but basically it's essentially that the application

         11  has to be approved by the City as complying with the

         12  applicable requirements.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, I think,

         14  Commissioner, that this is something we're going to

         15  want to talk with you about. I'm not sure what the

         16  industry, and they might want to speak to this, I

         17  don't want this hearing to be dragged on much longer

         18  to this issue, and we're not trying to play catch,

         19  you know, caught you at this, but it is a concern

         20  that I have and if they could resubmit, maybe we

         21  have -- you started another process, but I wouldn't

         22  want to be a business and have to go back to square

         23  one, and this could be a punitive thing where you

         24  denied, just by the inefficiency of the agency, I'm

         25  not sure that's fair. So, let's try to review that
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          2  before we bring it back to Counsel. It may end up

          3  being right back there, but I think there's

          4  obviously enough questions about it.

          5                 Please identify yourself for the

          6  record.

          7                 MS. FRANK: Merrill Frank, Consumer

          8  Affairs.

          9                 DCA wanted to penalize itself as much

         10  as anyone else would be penalized for not keeping to

         11  its own deadlines. So, what we wanted was not to

         12  have an applicant come in, us miss the deadline and

         13  then let them operate, because we didn't want to

         14  usurp any City Council approval. These are

         15  applications we feel very strongly must go to City

         16  Council --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Then wouldn't you

         18  want to say that if you miss your deadline it's

         19  approved?

         20                 MS. FRANK: No, because then you lose

         21  your vote.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay.

         23                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Maybe what this

         24  could be is maybe we could take a look at, and I

         25  apologize for my own confusion on this, maybe we
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          2  could take a look at if we don't miss our deadline,

          3  and the petitioner has to resubmit, resubmit with no

          4  cost. You know, maybe so that there's an economic

          5  incentive for us.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: We'll take a look

          7  at it.

          8                 Council Member Avella, do you have a

          9  question?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: No. But just let

         11  me mention that we've been joined by Council Member

         12  James Davis.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED: The only other

         14  question I have, and it may have been listed in

         15  here, renewals.

         16                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED: They start right at

         18  square one again?

         19                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: You mean

         20  current renewals?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, current, or

         22  even if this were to take place now with the new

         23  one, and it's a two-year license, right?

         24                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Yes. I'm glad

         25  that you mentioned that. One of the things that the
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          2  law does do is make the length of the license the

          3  same as the length of the revocable consent, so we

          4  don't have this crazy two years up to five-year

          5  stuff. And, yes, renewals would have to go through

          6  the new process. We are currently making

          7  appointments with applicants who are coming in now,

          8  in the hope that you will pass this, making

          9  appointments and prioritizing who we will pay

         10  attention to so we can get them finished. But, yes,

         11  renewals, we will need a new application for

         12  renewals.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So you would have

         14  to resubmit a whole new set of photographs, and all

         15  of those drawings?

         16                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: That's why

         17  we're encouraging people not to submit currently.

         18  Merrill has been talking with restaurant operators

         19  daily, we're encouraging them not to submit until we

         20  see the culmination.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: That's not what I'm

         22  asking, Commissioner.

         23                 If this passes and we move along here

         24  and so next year somebody gets this, and two years

         25  after that they have to renew, they have to start
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          2  right at square one?

          3                 MS. FRANK: They're allowed to

          4  continue operating. As long as you have a petition

          5  for revocable consent on file with the Department as

          6  a renewal, you are allowed to continue operating,

          7  just as you always had.

          8                 The only time you have to submit new

          9  blueprints as a renewal application is if the street

         10  conditions have changed since the two years

         11  previous. If the conditions haven't changed, you

         12  just need to submit photographs. However, they will

         13  be certifying that the conditions haven't changed

         14  and that the photographs are indeed an accurate

         15  representation of the street conditions.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Is that spelled out

         17  in here?

         18                 MS. FRANK: That will be in our rules.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED: That will be rules.

         20  I see, okay. Thank you very much.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you,

         22  Commissioner. We appreciate your participation and

         23  your presentation this morning. And I think I can

         24  speak for my co-chair, I guess we're calling

         25  ourselves, that we'll certainly discuss the items
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          2  that have come up and that may come up in the rest

          3  of the public hearing, and do it in an expedited

          4  manner, to see if we can move ahead to vote.

          5                 We're going to call people up in

          6  terms of panels. The first panel will be E. Charles

          7  Hunt, and Robert Bookman.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED: It's been brought

          9  to my attention by my co-chair that there's only --

         10  the only people who have come to testify are people

         11  in favor. So, you can probably keep your comments

         12  brief and leave opportunities to respond to

         13  questions so we can move this hearing forward.

         14                 That would be appreciated, because I

         15  know many of us, including this chair, have an awful

         16  lot of other commitments today.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 Please identify yourselves for the

         19  record.

         20                 MR. HUNT: Good morning. I'm Chuck

         21  Hunt. I'm the Executive Vice President of the

         22  Greater New York City chapters of the New York State

         23  Restaurant Association.

         24                 The New York State Restaurant

         25  Association is a trade association representing
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          2  approximately 2,500 restaurants and food service

          3  operations within the five boroughs of New York

          4  City.

          5                 It's been my responsibility and

          6  privilege to appear before various committees of the

          7  City Council to put forth the positions of our

          8  Association's members in respect to many legislative

          9  proposals. Often I speak in objection to the

         10  imposition or amendment of laws that we feel would

         11  be detrimental to the interest of our industry;

         12  however, today I'm pleased to testify before you in

         13  support of Intro. 294.

         14                 Beginning during the Administration

         15  of John Lindsay and over the ensuing years, sidewalk

         16  cafes have appeared on the streets of many of New

         17  York's neighborhoods. These pleasant street side

         18  additions to the operations of creative

         19  restaurateurs have helped many blighted neighbors,

         20  neighborhoods become safer and more desirable places

         21  to live.

         22                 Obviously, the cafes have also been

         23  beneficial for the restaurant and have created

         24  additional sales tax revenue for the City; however,

         25  the addition of more commercial development in the
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          2  neighborhoods has required a careful process of

          3  review and regulation to ensure a mutually

          4  beneficial balance between the residents and the

          5  restaurant. This has not always been an easy

          6  process.

          7                 The current application procedures,

          8  as you have heard, that have evolved, are cumbersome

          9  and most often difficult to navigate. Action on the

         10  applicants' petitions has been known to take as long

         11  as 16 months, a little longer I think, not

         12  necessarily as a result of community objections, but

         13  rather administrative delays created by a number of

         14  agencies, the number of agencies and countless steps

         15  in the process.

         16                 There have been other problems. Some

         17  businesses have chosen to ignore the rules and

         18  operate without permits. When caught, they pay their

         19  fines and consider them part of the cost of doing

         20  business.

         21                 Thanks to the efforts of Commissioner

         22  Dykstra and her staff in developing the proposed

         23  code amendments, the application process will be

         24  shortened to 110 days or less.

         25                 While planning has streamlined
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          2  application procedure without giving up any of the

          3  considerations required to maintain the rights of

          4  all parties, the Commissioner also recognized the

          5  need for better understanding and enforcement of the

          6  sidewalk cafe rule.

          7                 DCA reached out to -- as you have

          8  heard, reached out to both the restaurant operators

          9  and the community boards to make sure that the

         10  resulting amendments that were proposed were fair

         11  and proper.

         12                 In a series of meetings to discuss

         13  these changes, a group of New York State Restaurant

         14  Association members were asked to review and comment

         15  on the proposed new application process.

         16                 In doing so, they also recognized and

         17  acknowledged that more rigorous enforcement, and

         18  increased fines were necessary to protect not only

         19  the neighborhoods, but also the restaurateurs who do

         20  observe the rules.

         21                 The restaurateurs of New York City

         22  are proud of the role we play in the City's economy

         23  and its image.

         24                 We often refer modestly to New York

         25  as the "restaurant capitol of the world." We wish to
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          2  assure the Council, the community boards and the

          3  citizens represented here today of our sincere

          4  commitment to work diligently in concert with them

          5  to deserve and maintain that title.

          6                 On behalf of the New York State

          7  Restaurant Association and its members and the

          8  industry in general, we thank you for this

          9  opportunity to come before you and urge the swift

         10  passage of Intro. 294 in order to bring a whole new

         11  crop of delightful sidewalk cafes for New Yorkers

         12  and their guests to enjoy by next summer and next

         13  spring.

         14                 MR. BOOKMAN: Good morning. My name is

         15  Robert Bookman, and I'm from the lawfirm of Pesetsky

         16  and Bookman. I'm here today not representing any

         17  trade association, but in our practice we represent

         18  numerous restaurants, and over the years I have

         19  personally handled perhaps hundreds of sidewalk cafe

         20  applications over 16 years in private practice and

         21  five years previously at the Department of Consumer

         22  Affairs. I'm thoroughly familiar with the process.

         23                 I also apologize for not having,

         24  other than prepared notes which I handed up, not

         25  having prepared testimony. Councilwoman Quinn has
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          2  kept me busy the last couple of weeks on another

          3  matter and I didn't have a chance to do full

          4  testimony.

          5                 But I want to take this opportunity

          6  to thank Commissioner Dykstra and the Administration

          7  and her staff for taking on yeoman's work and doing

          8  an incredible job at addressing what is an

          9  extraordinarily serious problem. This problem

         10  literally fell on their laps when they took over the

         11  agency. It had been a problem that was festering for

         12  quite some time. They immediately addressed it, they

         13  saved a crisis last summer from, you know, and got

         14  people approved and operating, and there's just so

         15  much in this legislation that we think is wonderful

         16  that we want to thank them, and on a personal note,

         17  literally within minutes of her hearing, that I had

         18  a few things I wanted to say when she was reaching

         19  out to people about preparing this legislation, I

         20  got a call from her office advising me to come in

         21  and speak to her about it, and I had never seen such

         22  type of outreach before to be pro business.

         23                 Like Mr. Hunt so used to checking the

         24  opposed section, that my hand shook when I was

         25  actually checking the in favor of it. So, all credit
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          2  goes to the Administration on this.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Bob, did your

          4  hand cramp when you --

          5                 MR. BOOKMAN: It literally did. That's

          6  why my handwriting is not good to begin with, you

          7  probably couldn't even read it.

          8                 I just had a few comments where I had

          9  hoped that the bill would even go further in

         10  liberalizing the process, while keeping the

         11  important balance between neighborhood input and

         12  speed.

         13                 And one of them was raised here

         14  today. In Section 6, the existing language of the

         15  law does state that at that point the Department of

         16  Transportation and now it's proposed Department of

         17  Consumer Affairs, fails to act within the time frame

         18  provided in the law that the application is

         19  automatically denied.

         20                 That's not new, it's always been

         21  there. Frankly, it's been ignored, otherwise

         22  everybody would have been denied. But I am

         23  concerned, you know, that it did remain. I think

         24  it's a good opportunity to remove it.

         25                 You could certainly keep a time
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          2  deadline, you know, for Consumer Affairs, with

          3  theoretically no penalty to the applicant, if they

          4  don't act within that period of time. I think

          5  starting over, even with no fees, quite frankly, is

          6  not fair, because then we're not getting the benefit

          7  of the speeding process.

          8                 Of course, we would like to see if

          9  it's not approved, if it's not, you know, if it's

         10  not acted upon within a period of time it's

         11  approved, you know, I don't know if anybody would go

         12  for that, but, you know, it was worth a try, right?

         13                 But, I mean, they could still have a

         14  deadline without there being a punitive, you know,

         15  automatic, you know, something being triggered, and

         16  I know the Commissioner likes to comply with laws

         17  and I'm afraid they really will deny them if they're

         18  not acted on in a certain time, despite best hopes.

         19                 I would also hope later in that

         20  section that we were going to finally remove the

         21  Mayor's Office of Contracts from the process.

         22  Because, frankly, it was the worst part of the

         23  process.

         24                 Their only connection in the current

         25  law is that one line in sub G which says that the
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          2  contract shall be forwarded to the Mayor for

          3  approval, pursuant to Subdivision I of this section,

          4  I was hoping that you would give Consumer Affairs

          5  authority to sign off on that contract on behalf of

          6  the Administration. The contract is a form contract,

          7  it's the same for everyone, I don't see the need,

          8  once we go through this public/private review, all

          9  the public hearings, for then to go to the Mayor's

         10  Office of Contracts, who has no dead time --

         11  deadline here in the process, and that's where we

         12  got killed in the last couple of years with things

         13  sitting there forever.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Mr. Bookman, a

         15  suggestion has been made, and we will take a look at

         16  it, that perhaps if they don't meet that 30-day

         17  deadline, that it then just goes directly to the

         18  Council.

         19                 MR. BOOKMAN:  At a minimum, Council

         20  member, I think you need to do that.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: That's an idea that

         22  we will take a look at.

         23                 MR. BOOKMAN: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And also the

         25  possibility of putting a time line on Mayor's Office
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          2  of Contracts.

          3                 MR. BOOKMAN: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I wouldn't dare ask

          5  the Commissioner to speak to that at the moment.

          6                 MR. BOOKMAN: On Section 10, when the

          7  case is called up to the Council and there are

          8  changes made by the Council committee, the new

          9  proposal requires that the applicant accept those

         10  changes within 15 days, otherwise it's automatically

         11  deemed denied.

         12                 I have no problem with that. That's

         13  fine and it's a sufficient amount of time, I just

         14  think there should be some sort of notice provision

         15  put in there that notice of those changes be, you

         16  know, of the Council changes, be made to the

         17  applicant or their representatives, and 15 days from

         18  that notice.

         19                 Often these applicants are new

         20  restaurants and they're not open yet, so it's

         21  important that we make sure that we're aware of the

         22  proposed changes and that 15 days is not a problem

         23  for them to consent to it.

         24                 Also, in sub i of Section 10, I was

         25  also hoping, and I know I raised it with the
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          2  Commissioner, you know, it didn't get in there. I

          3  was hoping that as a further, you know,

          4  liberalization of the law, that when there was

          5  simply a change of ownership, of an existing

          6  restaurant that has an existing licensed sidewalk

          7  cafe, and my client happens to buy it in June, that

          8  I was hoping that just like with the Liquor

          9  Authority, where once the new owner files a complete

         10  application with the agency, and that complete

         11  application is accepted, that they be allowed to

         12  continue to operate while their application is on a

         13  pending status, as long as they're not proposing any

         14  changes to the currently approved sidewalk cafe.

         15                 Otherwise, we continue the anomalous

         16  of if you buy a restaurant with a licensed cafe in

         17  February, there's plenty of time for you to be

         18  licensed, but if you're unfortunate to buy it in

         19  June, you lose the season, because the current law

         20  says you cannot operate prior to the issuance of the

         21  consent. So, if you could look at that, I would

         22  appreciate it.

         23                 And finally, under Section 12, under

         24  the penalties, while I have no debate with the

         25  amounts of the penalties and I have no debate with
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          2  the severity of the penalties for unlicensed

          3  activity, I am concerned about the issue of

          4  penalties against licensees. Mandatory suspension

          5  and revocation for licensees on a third strike, and

          6  the growing tendency for legislation to have the

          7  three strikes and you're out automatic type revision

          8  as an attorney concerns me.

          9                 It's analogous in my mind to the

         10  Rockefeller drug laws where you took discretion away

         11  from the otherwise excellent administrative law

         12  judges that they have at the Department. I'm not

         13  just saying that because I used to be Director of

         14  Adjudication, they are excellent. I like to see

         15  discretion remain with judges.

         16                 Sometimes you have a situation, and

         17  there should be severe penalties for a third

         18  violation in two years, I agree. But sometimes that

         19  third penalty is so minor in and of itself, that the

         20  judge should have the right to weigh that and

         21  determine whether a revocation will be instituted.

         22  They certainly, I have no problem with it saying may

         23  be revoked, it's the shall automatically be revoked

         24  that I have a concern with.

         25                 For example, I just finished a
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          2  hearing which my client was, quite frankly, found

          3  guilty, for serving coffee to patrons at the cafe 20

          4  minutes after the closing deadline contained in the

          5  law. It was 1:20 a.m., they were supposed to have

          6  been closed at 1:00 a.m.

          7                 There was no disagreement with the

          8  facts in the hearing, 40 some odd City cafe, there

          9  was one table of six that was still there. They were

         10  clearly finishing up their dinner. My client was

         11  wrong. It's an awkward situation sometimes when you

         12  are placing somebody for dinner and it's 12:00 and

         13  you've got to close at 1:00. You should warn them

         14  that you may not be able to finish here, so my

         15  client was at fault, but the judge instituted a de

         16  minimus fine under the circumstances. Nobody was,

         17  you know, public enemy number one here.

         18                 God forbid that had been the third

         19  violation in this sect, you know, within two years.

         20  The license would have had to be revoked under this

         21  provision, and I think discretion belongs, you know,

         22  with the judge.

         23                 But, again, this is tremendous

         24  improvement for small businesses. Increasingly my

         25  office sees more and more, especially in this
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          2  economy, restaurants looking to maximize their

          3  profits, once you pass the no smoking bill they're

          4  going to want to even look further as to how to

          5  maximize profits.

          6                 The sidewalk cafe is one of those

          7  ways that they can do that, and I encourage you to

          8  pass this bill.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: I just wanted to

         10  know if either of you gentlemen, or perhaps both,

         11  wanted to respond to my colleague Councilman

         12  Koppell's question about the fee structure; how do

         13  you feel about that?

         14                 MR. BOOKMAN: The fee structure was

         15  not part of the legislation or the memorandum of

         16  support, so I have not seen it yet, I only heard it

         17  testified today, so I'm really not prepared to

         18  comment on it.

         19                 MR. HUNT: Since the Commissioner so

         20  kindly attributed remarks to me, I want to make

         21  clear that we did discuss increased penalties and

         22  increased fees for legitimate operations. There were

         23  no numbers mentioned at that time.

         24                 I appreciate Councilman Koppell's

         25  remarks in respect to the differences that he
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          2  pointed out, and I'm sure that DCA will take another

          3  look at this and perhaps make some changes.

          4                 MR. BOOKMAN: I, too, don't want to be

          5  misleading. It was mentioned at the hearing, excuse

          6  me, at my meeting with the Commissioner, and I, too,

          7  am one of the ones who said that my clients would

          8  gladly pay double their license fees if they can get

          9  a quick review of their applications. But what I

         10  meant, or perhaps what was misunderstood, was the

         11  licensing application fees, you know, that we would

         12  pay for whatever it took to get the appropriate

         13  staff that would be needed so that these things

         14  could be reviewed in a timely manner, and if we were

         15  currently paying for one person, then we'll pay for

         16  four people, if that's what it takes.

         17                 The franchise fee, she did mention, I

         18  don't know what, I haven't seen what the new fees

         19  are yet, so I don't want to comment on that portion

         20  of it.

         21                 MR. HUNT: If I can add just one more

         22  thing to this? One of the points that my members

         23  brought up to me, and we had at one of the meetings

         24  with the Commissioner several of the more prominent

         25  restaurant operators in this City. One of the things

                                                            60

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2  that they were adamant about is that it is not right

          3  that certain restaurants just violate these rules

          4  out of hand, and we support 100 percent the idea

          5  that everyone should be properly licensed. If they

          6  aren't, throw the book at them.

          7                 MR. BOOKMAN: I concur. There's

          8  nothing more frustrating than a legitimate licensed

          9  business that has gone through a rigorous process

         10  for review, has compromised with a community board,

         11  you know, come up with a cafe that everybody feels

         12  they can live with, only to have somebody, you know,

         13  around the corner or down the block, you know,

         14  flouting the law.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

         16  Davis had a question.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Thank you.

         18                 I would like to thank Councilman

         19  Avella and also Reed for hosting, having this

         20  important hearing, and also like to acknowledge

         21  Commissioner Dykstra.

         22                 As the Councilperson of Fort Green

         23  and Clinton Hill, as well as Prospect Heights,

         24  sidewalk cafes is very important in our district.

         25  There was just one point, and I thought that your
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          2  ideas and the suggestions were very good. The

          3  continuing of sidewalk cafe licenses for the new

          4  owner, you said after the application has been

          5  filled out.

          6                 MR. BOOKMAN: Filed and fully accepted

          7  for processing.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Could you just

          9  flush that out a little further?

         10                 MR. BOOKMAN: Sure.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: I just want you

         12  to know, I'm on board. You know, the suggestions

         13  were wonderful, that one. Just flush that out for me

         14  further.

         15                 MR. BOOKMAN: Okay.

         16                 The best analogy I can give you is

         17  the State Liquor Authority and the liquor laws.

         18  They found a number of years that people were going

         19  through all kinds of machinations when they were

         20  selling a place where the new owner, it took let's

         21  say 90 days or 120 days to get your liquor license

         22  approved, but they were ready to close on the deal

         23  like today. So what would happen is they would have

         24  all kinds of nonsense going on, frankly, so that the

         25  new owner could be operating the place, but it was
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          2  really the old owner's license, and they had

          3  management agreements, and it was all kinds of

          4  craziness, to simply accommodate a normal business

          5  transaction.

          6                 So, what the Liquor Authority, what

          7  the State Legislature did at the recommendation of

          8  the Liquor Authority, is they adopted a temporary

          9  license. So that when there's a sale, and it's

         10  limited in those situations, not a new place, you

         11  know, that didn't have a license before, but when

         12  there's a sale of a premise that has an existing

         13  liquor license, and the purchaser is only applying

         14  for the same class of license and the same size

         15  space, then the moment that they file their complete

         16  application to their own license, as a purchase

         17  which will take 90 days to process, they're given a

         18  temporary license to operate, so that there's no

         19  games going on, that the purchaser is there, their

         20  license is up on the wall and the real people are

         21  operating the place, so the real people, you know,

         22  going on.

         23                 I could tell you, the same thing goes

         24  on, quite honestly, Council members, under the cafe

         25  law right now, because there is no temporary. So, we
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          2  have crazy situations where you have a liquor

          3  license on the wall, a temporary liquor license for

          4  a buyer, but the old person's sidewalk cafe license

          5  is on the wall because there's no way for them to

          6  legally coordinate the two.

          7                 So, what I'm suggesting is that, once

          8  whatever application package Consumer Affairs comes

          9  up with, whenever under their new procedures that

         10  application is accepted by the buyer, and all the

         11  fees are paid for at that time, if the buyer is not

         12  asking for anything different under their first

         13  license than what is currently in existence, which

         14  would be no change but for the purchase, that the

         15  buyer be allowed to continue to operate the already

         16  existing and licensed sidewalk cafe while their own

         17  application is being reviewed.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

         20  Christine Quinn.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I just have

         22  more of a statement than a question, but just when

         23  Mr. Bookman was bringing the issues up of MOC, which

         24  I really hadn't focused on, you know, it just dawned

         25  on me in other committees we hear a lot from social
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          2  service providers and others about how difficult the

          3  contracting process is, and I know that in the

          4  Giuliani Administration the MOC part of this became

          5  very burdensome, and the Giuliani Administration

          6  decided to look into lots of things that were,

          7  certainly no one would have anticipated. So, it may

          8  be that if we -- which will occur, I'm sure, with

          9  the chairs, look at this MOC part of this, we may

         10  have --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Council Member, if

         12  I could interrupt you, we're -- as soon as they're

         13  finished we've asked the Commissioner to come back

         14  and tell us what role they're going to play.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Oh, great.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So, you might want

         17  to hold your questions.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Right. My only

         19  point really though, not really a question, was just

         20  we may end up having the added benefit of freeing up

         21  MOC staff time which would then be helpful to the

         22  other groups whose contracts are often tied up in

         23  MOC, who come to the Contracts Committee.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you. Thank

         25  you both very much.

                                                            65

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2                 MR. BOOKMAN: Thank you very much for

          3  this hearing.

          4                 MR. HUNT: Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Commissioner, if

          6  you'd be kind enough to rejoin us.

          7                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: There were lots

          8  of questions --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Just identify

         10  yourself for the record, please.

         11                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Oh. I'm

         12  Gretchen Dykstra, Commissioner of the Department of

         13  Consumer Affairs.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And the question --

         15  well, Christine, why don't you pose the question.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Presently what

         17  is the role that you see MOC playing?

         18                 I know, I mean I understand that the

         19  Mayor had to sign off on it. I guess people

         20  typically, one would envision that would mean MOC

         21  just kind of, you know, somebody taking a half an

         22  hour time in signing, you know, all the eight pages

         23  there. Course, in the Giuliani Administration what

         24  happened was extensive background checks into every

         25  owner of the place, you know, trying to root out,
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          2  you know, hidden, the illegalities or whatever, and

          3  it was very burdensome on the businesses, but also

          4  on a group of staff who have other very important

          5  work to do too that the people who are part of that

          6  come to the Council also with real problems.

          7                 So, (a) what's your vision of the

          8  role MOC will play in this? And (b) should we

          9  perhaps stipulate in law what exactly MOC's

         10  involvement in this means, so something like that

         11  doesn't happen again? Or is there another way to

         12  meet the provisions that the Mayor so-to-speak has

         13  to sign off on this without us having to go to MOC

         14  or to another agency?

         15                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: A couple of

         16  comments. One is that you are correct, MOC has been

         17  involved with the approval of sidewalk cafes, and I

         18  think I mentioned that we took a look at the 17-page

         19  application. And many of the questions asked in the

         20  MOC application were already duplicated on the

         21  initial restaurant application or the sidewalk

         22  application.

         23                 Those that were not, and I believe we

         24  found two that we thought were crucial to

         25  determining business integrity, we had built into
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          2  our application. So that 17-page application at MOC

          3  would no longer exist.

          4                 As you know, the Charter requires

          5  that the Mayor's office sign off on revocable

          6  consent, and it's the Mayor's Office of Contracts

          7  that is empowered to do that.

          8                 I believe we're written in that it

          9  would take no more than five days, so that our

         10  vision of it is that once the Council approves it,

         11  it goes to MOC and they literally just rubber stamp

         12  it.

         13                 Can I make, can I comment on two

         14  other things? One is Rob Bookman's point about

         15  discretion of judges. I hope that you notice that

         16  when we call for shutting the restaurant itself, we

         17  did build in discretion for the judges, and it says

         18  one to 30 days. So, if it's very minor the judge in

         19  fact could choose to close the restaurant just for

         20  one day.

         21                 We do think it's important, though,

         22  that that as a hammer be clear to people. And the

         23  other is we're checking the draft rules we have, but

         24  we believe we also have addressed the question of

         25  assignment of ownership at a time of renewal if the
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          2  application has stayed the same.

          3                 We have no objection with that,

          4  letting them continue on, if nothing has changed in

          5  the layout other than the ownership. Okay?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very

          7  much.

          8                 I would like to call up our last

          9  panel. I think virtually all of them represent the

         10  community boards, or I think with one exception a

         11  BID.

         12                 So, Mr. Anthony Borelli; Walter

         13  Mankoff.

         14                 We're going to need probably five

         15  chairs, Sergeant.

         16                 Doris Diether. And I'm sure I'm not

         17  getting your names right, but you'll have an

         18  opportunity to correct me. Monica Blum. And Penny

         19  Ryan. Yes, that's you, Penny. Yes.

         20                 I want to thank you all for coming,

         21  and at the risk of abusing your patience, we would

         22  ask you all to limit your testimony, comments, to

         23  two minutes, since you do represent in fact

         24  communities where these are going, have been and

         25  going to continue to be, I'm sure there are probably
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          2  going to be more questions. So, if you don't have

          3  remarks, you don't have to make them, there's

          4  probably going to be some questions, but we

          5  certainly welcome you all and in no particular

          6  order, but because I read them off first, Mr.

          7  Borelli and Mr. Mankoff.

          8                 Okay, so when you testify you need to

          9  push that light in so it's off, and tell us who you

         10  are.

         11                 MR. MANKOFF: Thank you. My name is

         12  Walter Mankoff. I'm Vice Chair of Community Board 4

         13  in Manhattan and chair, co-chair of it's

         14  Transportation Planning Committee, which approves or

         15  disapproves sidewalk cafes. And I'm accompanied by

         16  Mr. Anthony Borelli, District Manager.

         17                 We believe the simplified proposal is

         18  worthwhile. We support it. We think it's worthwhile

         19  getting rid of the large number of agencies, and

         20  reducing the time. And we also support the enhanced

         21  provisions for enforcement and punishing violators.

         22                 We have some concerns over specific

         23  rules and regs. We'll deal with them at the proper

         24  time and venue once DCA has published its draft

         25  rules and regs.
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          2                 Our one concern over the bill is the

          3  time allowed for community board to comment on the

          4  proposal.

          5                 In the vast majority of cases, we can

          6  and do respond within 45 days. But there are

          7  occasions, completely beyond community board

          8  control, when we cannot respond in 45 days. Let me

          9  give you a quick example.

         10                 My committee this month meets on next

         11  Wednesday which is December 18th. If an application

         12  arrives that the Board offers today, I would have no

         13  way practically and in fairness of notifying the

         14  applicant to come to a meeting next Wednesday, and

         15  of notifying the public via notices posted in the

         16  restaurant window of a hearing next Wednesday. By

         17  default it would be off to a January Committee

         18  meeting, and approval by the community board when it

         19  meets in the first Wednesday of February.

         20                 More than 45 days unfortunately, and

         21  we have nothing to do with it, it's purely the

         22  calendar. The summer break has been mentioned and so

         23  on.

         24                 There are few other examples in our

         25  testimony. For example, right now we're dealing with
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          2  a renewal application, should be fairly simple. The

          3  revokable consent terms, in terms of number of

          4  tables and chairs, does not agree with the license

          5  which has been issued by DCA, and we're trying to

          6  resolve it before we approve it. Unfortunately, we

          7  have to postpone a month.

          8                 We've recently had a case where the

          9  applicant failed to show at the appropriate hearing

         10  time, even though he was duly notified, and it could

         11  have been handled within 30 days in fact.

         12                 We could reject and write a letter

         13  saying he didn't appear, we disapprove. We think in

         14  fairness if he had a good reason, we would rather

         15  give him a chance to appear at the next meeting,

         16  which will stretch it a little beyond the 45 days,

         17  and handle it that way.

         18                 So, our suggestion is, unless you

         19  want to write some very specific exceptions or

         20  exemptions, and I think that's more complicated than

         21  it's worth, we would urge you to leave the 60 days

         22  alone, and that is our testimony today.

         23                 Thank you very much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you. Mr.

         25  Mankoff.
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          2                 MR. MANKOFF: Right.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I got it, okay.

          4                 MR. MANKOFF: Mr. Borelli is

          5  accompanying me in case we have questions.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay.

          7                 Ms. Diether?

          8                 MS. DIETHER: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Am I saying that

         10  correctly?

         11                 MS. DIETHER: That's right.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Please identify

         13  yourself.

         14                 MS. DIETHER: I'm Doris Diether, I'm

         15  Vice Chair of the Zoning Committee of Community

         16  Board 2, Manhattan.

         17                 This statement is my statement,

         18  because we did not receive the legislation until

         19  last week, and, so, but I didn't want you to go

         20  without any testimony from us. We had a lot of

         21  questions on the legislation, a lot of things were

         22  not completely clear to us. We had discussions,

         23  informal discussion, but the Board hasn't voted on

         24  it yet.

         25                 I do have with me the copy of the
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          2  resolution that the community board did on the

          3  enclosed sidewalk cafes, which was the City Planning

          4  Commission's legislation, and I'll pass that in

          5  today.

          6                 Section 2233 apparently refers to

          7  both enclosed and unenclosed sidewalk cafes, and the

          8  term eating and drinking place has been changed to

          9  restaurant. If this is to distinguish these places

         10  from cabarets, that would be good, but there remains

         11  the question about bars without food, but are not

         12  cabarets, are they also not permitted to have

         13  sidewalk cafes? That's not clear in the legislation.

         14                 Section 2224 deals with enclosed

         15  sidewalk cafes. It states the operator of a sidewalk

         16  cafe and the license from the Commissioner shall

         17  cause the boundary of the area license of the

         18  sidewalk cafe to be marked an area prescribed under

         19  the rules promulgated by the commission. However,

         20  this language does not appear in the section on

         21  unenclosed sidewalk cafes, and certainly an

         22  unenclosed sidewalk cafe has more problems heading

         23  out onto the sidewalks than an enclosed one.

         24                 The section 3-D under that shows a

         25  fee of $510 for a two-year license, and also refers
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          2  to additional fees. Is the additional fee based on

          3  size, number of tables or number of seats? Does this

          4  renewal also go back to the community board --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Let me interrupt

          6  you.

          7                 MS. DIETHER: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And there is no

          9  right or wrong answer to this.

         10                 Did you give us testimony or no?

         11                 MS. DIETHER: I'm going to hand it in.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay, great. Thank

         13  you. Continue.

         14                 MS. DIETHER: Yes, because I have, you

         15  know, a lot of these questions.

         16                 I hear that the renewals do go back

         17  to the community board, which is good.

         18                 Regarding places without alcohol, it

         19  states that adequate service must be provided on the

         20  sidewalk, but there is no definition of what

         21  constitutes adequate service.

         22                 There is, in Section 5-A it speaks of

         23  the application, but it doesn't tell you anything

         24  about sending it to the Community Board, and that's

         25  the enclosed.
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          2                 On the unenclosed, Section 8-D, it

          3  does say that it goes to the community board, and I

          4  think those two sections have to be put together.

          5                 Section 6-E gives the community board

          6  45 days to testify, and I think that's already been

          7  made a point of by both Council Member Quinn and the

          8  other board. There may be a problem on that timing.

          9                 On 6-F, and also 8-C, they talk about

         10  30 days for the DCA to hold their hearing, and if no

         11  action is taken the application is deemed to be

         12  denied. It seems to me that they could have an

         13  appeal process in there, instead of having the trial

         14  over again, that there should be an appeal process

         15  written in so that the agency could look at the

         16  application and see why it wasn't approved in the

         17  correct time.

         18                 Also, there's a section in there

         19  dealing not less than 50 days prior to the DCA

         20  hearing, the applicant must post notice in a

         21  conspicuous place on the premises in public view,

         22  which is a good idea. At the same time DCA notifies

         23  the community board of the hearing, they're also to

         24  publish notice of a hearing in a local newspaper,

         25  five days, five calendar days prior to the date of
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          2  the hearing.

          3                 Our local newspapers, the Villager

          4  and the Downtown Express, are both weekly papers,

          5  five calendar days' notice may not be adequate to

          6  have the papers publish the notice. Also, in that

          7  same section there was a section in the zoning

          8  originally, Section 14-61, which had further

          9  requirements, that the applicant notified by

         10  certified or registered mail, all persons who occupy

         11  ground floor frontage, whether residential,

         12  commercial or other use, within 50 feet of either

         13  side, and the owners of such properties along the

         14  same block front as the proposed sidewalk cafe, I'm

         15  not sure whether this was ever enforced, but it was

         16  in the zoning and it's something that should be

         17  maybe considered for being put in this legislation

         18  also.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: If you could sum

         20  up, because you're drawing well beyond the time.

         21                 MS. DIETHER: I know. I'm going to

         22  hand this in, but there were a lot of little

         23  questions that we had about the language and the

         24  interpretation and so forth, and I will hand this

         25  in.
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          2                 Also, there was nothing in the

          3  legislation about the times that the places can be

          4  opened, whether, you know, the time of the year or

          5  the time of day, and I guess that's going to be in

          6  the rules which we're looking forward to, but we

          7  haven't seen them yet either.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay, well, many of

          9  those questions are going to be addressed in there.

         10                 My reading and discussing this with

         11  our Counsel is, in order to have a sidewalk

         12  unenclosed cafe, you have to serve food. So that

         13  answered I think one of those questions.

         14                 MS. DIETHER: Oh, okay.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And this

         16  legislation does not deal with enclosed cafes. This

         17  is exclusively to unenclosed cafes. We're waiting

         18  for the other -- we'll see how this works out, what

         19  is happening over at City Planning, et cetera, et

         20  cetera, to deal with that. But I want to thank you

         21  for your testimony, and you certainly should hand

         22  that in.

         23                 MS. DIETHER: Yes, I will.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Monica Blum.

         25                 MS. BLUM: Yes, thank you.
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          2                 My name is Monica Blum, and I'm here

          3  today representing New York City's 44 Business

          4  Improvement Districts. Thank you for giving us the

          5  opportunity to testify in support of Intro. 294.

          6                 We believe -- we support these,

          7  obviously. We believe that the new procedures are

          8  user and business friendly and will assist small

          9  businesses, namely restaurants, while at the same

         10  time protecting the public and communities from

         11  illegal encroachments on the sidewalks.

         12                 I don't need to be on TV, it's okay.

         13                 Obviously, there are a number of

         14  interests to be addressed when considering sidewalk

         15  cafes, and we believe that this legislation and the

         16  regulations of the Commissioner of Consumer Affairs

         17  will promulgate, address these interests in a fair

         18  and comprehensive manner.

         19                 This legislation ensures that the

         20  public interest is protected and public input is

         21  carefully retained. Although the review time for the

         22  entire process is cut in half by this legislation

         23  from some 220 days to approximately 110 days,

         24  something that we applaud, there is more than

         25  adequate time, we believe, for both the community
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          2  boards and the Department of Consumer Affairs to

          3  thoroughly review the application.

          4                 There is also sufficient time and

          5  adequate notice requirements, to ensure that

          6  residents and the public can voice their opinions

          7  about the proposed sidewalk cafe.

          8                 Merchants will know if they apply in

          9  the fall to open a cafe in the spring they can be in

         10  business.

         11                 We would respectfully suggest,

         12  however, that Business Improvement Districts be

         13  included among those receiving copies of petitions,

         14  for informational purposes only as well.

         15                 We believe that notifying Business

         16  Improvement Districts will facilitate the process

         17  and ensure that there is adequate notice to all

         18  interested parties. We're not suggesting, by the

         19  way, separate notification of each petition. The way

         20  I think we would suggest it be handled is that if a

         21  community board gets notice, the Business

         22  Improvement Districts within that community board

         23  get notice, so there is not an extra -- so that DCA

         24  doesn't have to figure out if there's a BID, they

         25  just send us all the things that go to the
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          2  appropriate community board.

          3                 The effect of this legislation is to

          4  level the playing field and to provide businesses,

          5  residents, communities and elected officials with

          6  the ability to better plan what happens on the

          7  sidewalks of our neighborhoods, important aspects of

          8  the quality of life of our City.

          9                 Restaurants desiring to open sidewalk

         10  cafes will now have one agency to apply to and a

         11  clear set of rules and procedures to follow. The

         12  length of the license and the revocable consent will

         13  be for the same period, and the rental fee will be

         14  based on a formula that makes sense and is based on

         15  reality.

         16                 Self-certification by qualified

         17  licensed architects with spotchecks by DCA, can only

         18  speed up what currently is a lengthy, time-consuming

         19  and cumbersome process.

         20                 This legislation provides for

         21  increased and improved enforcement while preserving

         22  the due process rights of merchants and ultimately

         23  benefitting the public in our communities.

         24                 Hopefully DCA will be given adequate

         25  resources to effectively enforce the new
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          2  regulations.

          3                 We thank you for the opportunity to

          4  testify, and we commend Commissioner Dykstra, the

          5  Administration and members of the Council for their

          6  foresight in drafting legislation that we think

          7  ensures all parties' interests are adequately

          8  addressed and protected.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very much

         11  for your testimony.

         12                 I have five, I had five forms and six

         13  people. Mr. Hammerman, is that? I just wanted to

         14  know if your slip wasn't with us. So, I want to

         15  welcome you.

         16                 Ms. Ryan and Mr. Hammerman, you're

         17  the only two left to testify, right?

         18                 MS. RYAN: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay, Ms. Ryan.

         20                 MS. RYAN: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Since she's my

         22  district manager, I need to pay some respect to this

         23  or I'll be run out of office in town. She made me

         24  look good for years, so I want to give her an

         25  opportunity. Thank you.
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          2                 MS. RYAN: Thank you very much.

          3                 I'm Penny Ryan, I'm the District

          4  Manager of Manhattan Community Board 7 on the Upper

          5  West Side. We have 240 sidewalk cafes and quite a

          6  bit of experience in this field. We've given you our

          7  resolution that relates to the ULURP application but

          8  incorporates our views on the Intro., as well, and

          9  can provide a separate resolution on the Intro., if

         10  you would desire that.

         11                 Within the legislation there is a

         12  minor point. In Section 15-A in the referral of the

         13  applications out from DCA, the community boards have

         14  been left out of here, so if we don't get the

         15  application, we can't do the review. I think it just

         16  has to be put back into the text of the application.

         17                 And also in that same section, the

         18  last sentence of that section refers to the

         19  distribution of the application for information

         20  purposes to the Council member, Community Board 7 is

         21  also supporting the distribution of that to the

         22  Business Improvement Districts. We think that that

         23  will help us in this tightened time frame of review

         24  for the BIDs to know what applications are out

         25  there. So, we're supporting that.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Maybe it should be

          3  the obligation of the applicant to let us know that

          4  there's a Business Improvement District where they

          5  want to put their outdoor cafe, so they don't a

          6  mistake and find out.

          7                 MS. RYAN: Right. Perhaps DCA would

          8  consider making that part of their checklist, just

          9  because they have to find out if they're in a

         10  landmark district or anything else, so that would be

         11  a good way to do it.

         12                 I'd like to just comment on the

         13  question about the fines for violations.

         14                 In our experience we find that it's a

         15  minority, a very small number, let me say, of

         16  operators who are operating illegally or operating

         17  outside their permit, and when they are, it is just

         18  impossible to get them to comply or to get them shut

         19  down.

         20                 So, I would encourage you in your

         21  deliberations to take the strongest stand that you

         22  feel that you can on these violations, and we

         23  certainly support the idea of closing the restaurant

         24  for 430 days, because otherwise there's just no

         25  final penalty for people who operate these
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          2  restaurants, and, again, they're just very difficult

          3  and will not cooperate with anybody.

          4                 And we've had multiple agency inspect

          5  -- we've done everything and we really feel that

          6  this enforcement is absolutely essential.

          7                 I certainly support Council Member

          8  Quinn's suggestion about putting in some exception

          9  for the August month, and also Community Board 4's

         10  idea of maybe Commissioner Dykstra could look at

         11  putting in some way that we could make an appeal to

         12  the agency when we're in a situation -- we do that

         13  now, when we're in a situation where it's nobody's

         14  fault, but we can't process this within the 45 days,

         15  because we're committed to that 45 days, but if we

         16  had some way of making an appeal to the agency and

         17  then this August reprieve, I think that would be

         18  very helpful.

         19                 Finally, I'd just like to commend

         20  Commissioner Dykstra and her staff. I hope the

         21  Council will adopt the process they have used in

         22  developing all of this legislation and rules

         23  involving the community and the industry as a model

         24  that you would like to see the Administration bring

         25  forward that's been just excellent.
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          2                 Thank you very much.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very

          4  much.

          5                 Mr. Hammerman.

          6                 MR. HAMMERMAN: Thank you, Council

          7  member.

          8                 I'm Craig Hammerman, District Manager

          9  for Brooklyn Community Board 6, we cover the

         10  neighborhoods of Carroll Gardens, Cobble Hill, Park

         11  Slope, Gowanus and Red Hook. I'd like to say that,

         12  first of all, 1998, we first approached the last

         13  Administration and made a recommendation that three

         14  areas in the unenclosed sidewalk cafe permitting

         15  process be looked at.

         16                 First we asked them to eliminate the

         17  simultaneous multi-agency review process. We thought

         18  it was cumbersome, and, frankly, did not give us

         19  enough information as we were going through the

         20  process as to whether or not the application was

         21  appropriate for its specific area, since the

         22  Department of City Planning was reviewing it at the

         23  same time that we were.

         24                 Second, we asked them to harmonize

         25  the Department of Consumer Affairs cafe permit
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          2  duration, and the Department of Transportation's

          3  consent durations.

          4                 And third, we just asked for them to

          5  streamline the process. We saw that this was a

          6  process that took up too much time, went to too many

          7  agencies, and really didn't benefit anyone.

          8                 Unfortunately, the requests that we

          9  made at the last Administration were never

         10  acknowledged or responded to, but we're pleased to

         11  be here today to speak in favor of Intro. 294,

         12  because we believe that it's part of a package of

         13  reforms that will go far in overhauling a system

         14  that didn't work for anyone and create a system that

         15  will work for everyone.

         16                 We've seen a lot of activity in our

         17  district, an explosion of activity, particularly in

         18  the last five years - fifth Avenue and Park Slope,

         19  Smith Street and Carroll Gardens and Cobble Hill

         20  have more sidewalk cafes than ever before, we

         21  frankly we expect that that number is only going to

         22  increase over time.

         23                 We think that the City is cleaner,

         24  it's safer, there are people with more money to

         25  spend, and that's resulting in greater sidewalk
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          2  activity.

          3                 We believe that it helps the avenues

          4  to flourish by bringing more people into our

          5  district, bringing more people to shop in our

          6  stores, to walk our sidewalks, and to see what a

          7  lovely destination it actually is.

          8                 Of course, we're concerned for the

          9  individual impacts that some of these types of

         10  establishments will have on their surrounding

         11  neighborhoods, which is why we supported all along

         12  preserving the community boards, and the City

         13  Council's role in reviewing these applications.

         14  We're glad that that's remaining intact. There are

         15  situations, and I'll speak in support of my

         16  colleagues, where 45 days may not be physically

         17  possible for the community boards to accommodate,

         18  and we would look for some enhanced flexibility

         19  there.

         20                 But on the other side, we also

         21  believe that the third strike and you're out

         22  provision is an absolute necessity for the

         23  enforcement to have any real teeth, and we believe

         24  that the administrative law judges will have

         25  sufficient discretion, as Commissioner Dykstra
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          2  pointed out, in establishing how long the

          3  establishments should be closed for from a one to

          4  30-day period.

          5                 So, last, I just want to thank the

          6  Department of Consumer Affairs for not only coming

          7  up with a better process, but for engaging us in the

          8  discussions in an early stage so that we can help

          9  form what we believe will be a better system that

         10  will serve more people. And I want to thank you for

         11  giving me the opportunity to testify today.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you. We are

         13  not disrespecting you, we're sort of weighing this.

         14  We all agree with this 45-day dilemma, we're trying

         15  to figure out how to possibly resolve that, so

         16  that's certainly been taken into consideration.

         17  We'll talk to DCA. I want to thank you all very much

         18  for your testimony and your patience.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 Lastly, someone who has just signed

         21  in, I believe, Mr. Wygoda.

         22                 MR. WYGODA: Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Am I saying that

         24  right?

         25                 Please identify yourself for the
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          2  record.

          3                 MR. WYGODA: My name is Steve Wygoda,

          4  I'm an architect. My firm is SWA Architecture, PLLC.

          5                 Greetings from Spoon Bread, Mr. Reed,

          6  one of the restaurants in your community. And on

          7  that specific issue at that time, I've been very

          8  much involved with this process, with sidewalk cafe.

          9  Our office has represented over 150 restaurants in

         10  New York and we actually precipitated, for lack of a

         11  better word, a complaint about the process with the

         12  Mayor's Office, and I'd like to think that that has

         13  helped trigger some of these changes.

         14                 I've been involved with this process

         15  since the early eighties, and have seen the process

         16  get from very, very simple to the complex, extremely

         17  complex process that it is now.

         18                 I'd like to thank Merrill Frank, and

         19  Commissioner Dykstra at Consumers, Mr. Janosek, for

         20  assisting in this process, Councilwoman Quinn, who

         21  we've also been involved with.

         22                 Many of the things that have come

         23  about in this new ideas are excellent. Primarily

         24  from representing the people who are on the side of

         25  the restaurants, the people who are trying to either
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          2  survive, or if they're doing well, do better. I

          3  think the schedule, the time frame, is the most

          4  beneficial part of this whole legislation. As I

          5  reviewed the very specific items that are in this

          6  resolution, I'm not sure exactly what's in, what's

          7  not in, but it seems like not much has changed in

          8  terms of the requirements and criteria for sidewalk

          9  cafes, which is fine. The main issue, the largest

         10  problem, was how long it was taking to get these

         11  things approved.

         12                 I think also on the flip side, on the

         13  other side of having the restaurants who do not

         14  abide, whether they're licensed and do not abide,

         15  and then unlicensed and then break the rules, all

         16  those penalties are probably very good because it

         17  will put everybody in line to file, to do a proper

         18  job of doing that.

         19                 One of the aspects is I feel that

         20  perhaps we should add in the filing process, a copy

         21  to the City Council member up front, so that they're

         22  aware that there's a restaurant in their community

         23  that's filing. One of the issues Mr. Reed came up

         24  with at one time on that side, you know, when we

         25  were doing that particular restaurant.
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          2                 And, also, we find that, although the

          3  community boards, the community boards, we've had

          4  experiences where the community boards have had a

          5  certain view of a sidewalk cafe and the City Council

          6  has taken, and rightly should, City Council member

          7  has taken their own position on it, it might be wise

          8  to have all of that come out early, so that perhaps

          9  the City Councilperson could be involved early, by

         10  virtue of having an application sent to them

         11  directly at time of filing.

         12                 Other than that, I think that all

         13  these changes are highly welcome. Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very

         15  much. Seeing no other questions, I want to thank my

         16  co-chair, Council Member Avella, and this meeting is

         17  adjourned. Thank you.

         18                 (Hearing concluded at 12:40 p.m.)
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          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7
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         11  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         12  of the within proceeding.

         13                 I further certify that I am not

         14  related to any of the parties to this action by

         15  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         16  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         17                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         18  set my hand this 12th day of December 2002.
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         24                          LENORE NAGLE
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          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, LENORE NAGLE, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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         22                 -----------------------

                              LENORE NAGLE
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